IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDAR ILLED SID J. WHITE

MAY 4 1995

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 85,479

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

BOB MICHAEL CHAMPAGNE,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANGELICA D. ZAYAS

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0822256 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue N-921 P.O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax No. (305) 377-5655

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the prosecution and Respondent was the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. Petitioner was the appellee in the appellate court; Respondent was the appellant.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the state; Respondent may also be referred to as Defendant.

The following symbols will be used:

- "R" Record on Appeal
- "T" Trial Transcript
- "Ex." Petitioner's Exhibits (included in appendix to Petitioner's Brief on the Merits).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Bob Michael Champagne, was charged with three counts of armed robbery. (R. 1-3). Following trial by jury, Appellant was found to be a habitual violent felony offender and sentenced to life in prison on each count. (R. 62-65). The sentences were ordered to run consecutive to each other, with concurrent minimum mandatory sentences. (R. 64). Respondent's permitted sentencing guidelines sentence was 9-22 years. (R. 65).

On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed Respondent's conviction and reversed Respondent's sentence based upon the authority of Hale v. State, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, __U.S.__, 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994) and Hill v. State, 645 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), with directions to impose concurrent sentences. (Ex. 1). On rehearing, the Third District certified the following question to be of great public importance:

Whether <u>Hale v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994), precludes under all circumstances the imposition of consecutive sentences for crimes arising form a single criminal episode for habitual felony or habitual violent felony offenders?

(Ex. 2).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Because the facts and circumstances relating to the crimes preceding Respondent's arrest and conviction are wholly irrelevant to the legal question certified by the district court as a question of great public importance, Petitioner will not restate them in the instant brief. However, for the sake of completeness Petitioner relies on the Statement of the Case and Facts as presented in the state's brief on direct appeal which has been included in the appendix to the instant brief. (Ex. 3).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hale v. State, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, __U.S.__, 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994), which relies on Daniels v. State, 595 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 1992) and Palmer v. State, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983), can only be read to prohibit the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences, not maximum permissible sentences.

Moreover, because the maximum permissible sentences authorized by §775.084 are merely substitutes for the maximum permissible sentences otherwise provided by law, and §775.021 allows maximum permissible sentences to be imposed consecutively, Hale cannot be read to prohibit consecutive maximum permissible sentences imposed pursuant to §775.084. This is particularly true since the limitation of consecutive maximum permissible sentences where a defendant has been declared a habitual felony or habitual violent felony offender may result in a sentence well below the quidelines sentence that would have been imposed if the defendant had not been declared a habitual felony or habitual violent felony offender and the trial court is directed to impose consecutive maximum permissible sentences in cases not involving habitual felony or habitual violent felony offenders to achieve a quidelines sentence.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER HALE v. STATE, 630 So. 2d 521 (FLA. 1993), cert. denied, U.S., 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2D 195 (1994), PRECLUDES UNDER ALL CIRCUMSTANCES THE IMPOSITION OF CONSECUTIVE SENTENCES FOR CRIMES ARISING FROM A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE FOR HABITUAL FELONY OR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDERS?

ARGUMENT

WHETHER HALE v. STATE, 630 So. 2d 521 (FLA. 1993), cert. denied, U.S., 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2D 195 (1994), PRECLUDES UNDER ALL CIRCUMSTANCES THE IMPOSITION OF CONSECUTIVE SENTENCES FOR CRIMES ARISING FROM A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE FOR HABITUAL FELONY OR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDERS?

Respondent was convicted of three counts of armed robbery. (R. 44-45). Respondent was declared a habitual violent felony offender and sentenced to three consecutive terms of life in prison. (R. 62-65). The minimum mandatory terms of each sentence were ordered to run concurrent with each other. (R. 65; T. 313-314). On appeal Respondent claimed that the trial court improperly imposed consecutive sentences after he was habitualized because Hale v. State, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 19993), cert. denied, U.S., 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994), prohibits the imposition of consecutive sentences.

In <u>Hale</u> this court held that the trial court could not impose consecutive enhanced habitual offender sentences for the possession and the sale of the same identical piece of cocaine. 630 So. 2d at 525.

Petitioner submits that <u>Hale</u>, which expressly relies on <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 1992), and <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983), can only be read to prohibit the

imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory portions of the habitual violent felony offender sentence. In <u>Daniels</u>, this court held that the minimum mandatory sentences imposed for crimes committed in a single criminal episode may only be imposed concurrently and not consecutively. 595 So. 2d at 954. This was so because the statute prescribing the penalty for Daniels' offenses did not contain a provision for a minimum mandatory sentence. 595 So. 2d at 954. In <u>Hale</u> this court expressly stated that for the same rationale set out in <u>Daniels</u>, Hale's enhanced sentences could not run consecutively, 630 So. 2d at 524.

In <u>Palmer</u> this court held that minimum mandatory sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode could not be imposed consecutively because the legislature did not intend that \$775.021 of the Florida Statutes, allowing the trial court to impose consecutive or concurrent sentences for offenses arising from a single criminal episode, to amount to a delegation of parole authority to the trial court. 438 So. 2d at 4.

Because <u>Palmer</u> and <u>Daniels</u> expressly prohibit only the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences and <u>Hale</u> relies on the rationale of <u>Palmer</u> and <u>Daniels</u>, Petitioner submits that <u>Hale</u> can only be read to prohibit consecutive minimum

mandatory sentences and should not be read to prohibit the imposition of consecutive maximum permissible sentences. 1

Section 775.021(4) of the Florida Statutes authorizes the trial court to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences and applies to all offenses defined by other statutes unless the code provides otherwise. §775.021, Fla. Stat. (1993). Although this court held in <u>Daniels</u> that §775.02(4) could not support the imposition of minimum mandatory sentences, Petitioner submits that §775.021 does support the imposition of consecutive maximum permissible mandatory sentences, such as the consecutive life sentences imposed in the instant case. This conclusion is supported by the fact that only the minimum mandatory portions of the sentences in <u>Daniels</u> were ordered to run concurrently, while the remaining portion of the sentences in both cases were allowed to remain consecutive. <u>Daniels</u>, 595 So. 2d at 954; <u>Palmer</u>, 438 So. 2d at 3.

¹ In fact, Hale challenged only the consecutive minimum mandatory sentences and this court in <u>Hale</u> stated:

Hale asserts that our decision in <u>Daniels</u> requires a reversal of the trial court's imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. We agree.

⁶³⁰ So. 2d at 524.

Maximum permissible habitual offender sentences are merely substitutes for standard (non-habitual) maximum permissible sentences. Because maximum permissible sentences may be imposed consecutively, the increased maximum permissible sentence must also be subject to consecutive imposition, else there would be no penalty as a result of designation as a habitual felony or habitual violent felony offender.

A standard (non-habitual) statutory maximum sentence may always be imposed to run consecutive to another such sentence pursuant to §§775.021(4)(a) & 4(b), Fla. Stat. (1993). Finding a defendant to be a habitual offender, an obligatory and purely administrative act, 2 and determining that imposition of such a sentence is necessary for the protection of the public simply results in the supplantation of the standard statutory maximum with the one set forth in the habitual offender statute. However, its essential character as a statutory maximum remains the same and, therefore, warrants a consistent application of the rules of construction with that which applies to standard maximum There is no valid reason to treat the replaced sentences. maximum sentences any differently as far as application of the rules of construction and the policies underlying them concerned.

See King v. State, 597 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied,
602 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1992).

The Hale rule is grounded on the belief that the legislature did not intend that the enhanced sentences imposed pursuant to further enhanced by permitting them to run §775.084 be sentences However, allowing these to run consecutively. consecutively is not a further enhancement any different from that which is permitted with standard sentences. By prohibiting permissible sentences from running enhanced maximum consecutively, Hale, if read to prohibit more than consecutive minimum mandatory sentences, has eviscerated the legislative intent behind §775.084, i.e., the need and desire to punish habitual offenders more harshly than non-habitual offenders.

Moreover, preclusion of consecutive non-minimum mandatory sentences in all cases where a defendant has been declared to be a habitual felony or habitual violent felony offender leads to the illogical conclusion that a habitual felony or habitual violent felony offender may actually benefit from such a designation. For example, as was the case in Hill v. State, Case No. 84,727, currently pending before this court, the requirement that all sentences arising from a single criminal episode be imposed concurrently rather than consecutively could result in a significant downward departure from the sentencing guidelines, despite the fact that the defendant has been designated a

habitual felony or habitual violent felony offender for the protection of the public. 3 §775.084(4)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993).

The irony and illogic of this conclusion is made apparent when one considers the rule which requires that regular statutory maximum sentences be imposed consecutively where the sentences, imposed concurrently, would be less than the guidelines recommended sentence. See Branam v. State, 554 So. 2d 512 (Fla. Hale as interpreted by the district court in the instant case, precludes the stacking of habitual offender maximum sentences in all cases, even where the failure to impose consecutive sentences would result in an "enhanced" sentence well below the quidelines, when the law requires non-habitual maximum sentences to be stacked to reach a sentence recommended by the The result, of course, is that many defendants auidelines. receive a lower sentence as a habitual felony offender than they This clearly and directly contravenes the would otherwise. expressed purpose of the habitual felony offender sentencing The legislature not only intended to provide for greater scheme. sentencing under the habitual felony and habitual violent felony offender sentencing scheme but expressly stated that

Hill was convicted of burglary, grand theft of a motor vehicle and possession of burglary tools. Hill's recommended guidelines sentence was twenty-two to twenty-seven years in prison with a permitted sentence of seventeen to forty years. Hill was sentenced to three consecutive ten-year terms with three five-year minimum mandatory terms. On appeal, Hill's sentences were ordered to run concurrent, resulting in a substantial downward departure from the guidelines. Hill v. State, 645 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

guidelines limitations do not apply 4 so that defendants could be sentenced to a greater term than the quidelines permit.

A further unacceptable result of the district court's interpretation of <u>Hale</u> is that the trial court will be forced to compare a guideline sentence with a habitual felony offender sentence in every case. Afterward, despite the fact that a trial judge may determine sentencing as a habitual felony offender is necessary for the protection of the public, ⁵ the court will choose not to sentence the defendant as a habitual offender simply because the standard guidelines sentence is greater than the habitual offender sentence. Thus, ironically, it will be "necessary for the protection of the public" to sentence the defendant as a non-habitual offender rather than as a habitual felony offender. This result is patently unreasonable.

In summary, the state urges the court to limit the <u>Hale</u> rule to its particular facts and thereby only prohibit the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for each offense committed during a single criminal episode under §775.084, Florida Statutes, the same restriction placed on non-habitualized sentences. Alternatively, an exception to the application of the rule must be created where prohibition of consecutive sentences

 $^{^4}$ See §775.084(4)(e) Fla. Stat. (1993).

 $[\]frac{5}{100}$ See §775.084(4)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993).

will result in a downward departure from the permitted guidelines sentence. See Branam, supra.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing reasons and authorities cited herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this court answer the certified question in the negative and find that maximum permissible sentences enhanced by §775.084 of the Florida statutes may be imposed consecutively pursuant to §775.021 of the Florida Statutes, even where the offenses arise from a single criminal episode, just as maximum permissible sentences not enhanced by §775.084 may be imposed consecutively pursuant to §775.021.