FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 15 19954

CLERK SUPPLEME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,479

THIRD DCA NO. 93-2622

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

BOB MICHAEL CHAMPAGNE,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
and
SHERYL J. LOWENTHAL, Special
Appointed Public Defender

Suite 911 Douglas Centre 2600 Douglas Road Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone: (305) 442-1731 Florida Bar No. 163475

Attorneys for Respondent

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

The state's position essentially, is nothing more than a belated motion for rehearing of this Court's well-reasoned and unanimous decision in <u>Hale v. State</u>, and at that, the state has failed to provide compelling, or even credible reason for overruling <u>Hale</u>.

Point II contends that the Third District incorrectly affirmed the trial court's ruling allowing the state to present Detective Iris Deegan as a rebuttal witness for several reasons. First, there was a discovery violation in that her name was not included on the state's witness list; the prejudice to the defense was great; and had the defense known that Iris Deegan would be called to testify, it would have presented its defense differently.

The confession was a key issue at the trial. The defense was sandbagged by allowing this eleventh hour, and

previously unknown witness to rebut Bob Champagne's testimony regarding that critical issue. Rebuttal witnesses are subject to the same disclosure rules as all other witnesses. Even more appalling, is that the thrust of her testimony made it quite clear to the jury that Bob Champagne was being questioned by the police that night about other, uncharged criminal conduct, all in violation of the constitutional quarantees of fairness and due process.

Point III contends that the Third District incorrectly affirmed, where the record shows that the state failed to prove the essential element of identity beyond a reasonable doubt. Shortly after the robbery, the three victims described the larger assailant, whom they later identified as Bob Michael Champagne, as being five feet five, six or seven inches tall and weighing 150 or 200 pounds and having gold teeth. This is not Bob Champagne. He is six feet three inches tall, weighs 280 pounds and has no gold teeth. The significant discrepancies in the descriptions given were not satisfactorily explained at trial to overcome the burden to prove all elements of the offense, including and especially identity, beyond a reasonable doubt.

ARGUMENT ON THE CERTIFIED QUESTION

THE STATE HAS PROVIDED NO COMPELLING, OR EVEN CREDIBLE JUSTIFICATION FOR ASKING THIS COURT TO OVERRULE ITS DECISION IN HALE V. STATE (restated)

The court found Bob Michael Champagne to be a habitual violent offender, and sentenced him to three consecutive terms of life in prison, with three concurrent fifteen year minimum mandatory terms (R-62 to 65)(T-313, 314). The first life term was imposed for the conviction for robbery of Chantal Xavier; the second life term was imposed for the conviction for robbery of Marie Zizi and/or the Maximum Protection Insurance office; and the third life term was imposed for the conviction for robbery of Samuel Darcius. All three offenses occurred at the same place and time.

The defense objected to the consecutive life terms (T-314 to 317). Although the trial court properly made the mandatory minimum sentences concurrent with each other, the court erred in making the three enhanced life sentences consecutive to each other.

This Court clearly held in <u>Hale v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) that a trial court may not both enhance a defendant's sentence under the habitual offender statute and also make the enhanced sentences consecutive to each other,

when the offenses were committed in a single criminal episode. Expanding the holding in <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 595 So.2d
952 (Fla. 1992), which held that mandatory minimum sentences
for offenses committed in a single criminal episode could not
be made consecutive to each other, this Court held that,
similarly, 630 So.2d 522:

[w]e find nothing in the language of the habitual offender statute which suggests that the legislature also intended that, once the sentences from multiple crimes committed during a single criminal episode have been enhanced through the habitual offender statutes, the total penalty should then be further increased by ordering that the sentences run consecutively.

There can be no dispute that all three of Bob Champagne's convictions arose from a single criminal episode.

See Palmer v. State, 438 So.2d 1, 2 to 3 (Fla. 1983) in which the robbery of 13 victims at a funeral was a single criminal episode; and Simon v. State, 615 So.2d 236, 238 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) in which the false imprisonment of six victims was committed in a single episode.

Consequently, the Third District was eminently correct in finding that having chosen to sentence Bob Champagne as an habitual offender, the trial court should not have ordered his enhanced sentences to run consecutively. Hale, supra.

The sentences were properly be set aside and the case was properly remanded for resentencing.

The certified question before this Court, essentially asks whether this Court really meant what it said in its unanimous decision in Hale. Given the clear language in Hale, the state's arguments provide no compelling reasons to overrule that decision. Just as in the case of State v.. Hill, Case No. 84-727, which is also pending before this Court on a certified question issued by the Third District Court of Appeal, the state's arguments are tantamount to a belated motion for rehearing challenging the wisdom of this Court's opinion.

Did this Court mean what it said in <u>Hale</u>? We note that since announcing the <u>Hale</u> decision, this Court has affirmed the rule in several other cases, including <u>Edler v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1993); <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993); and <u>Penton v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1993).

Moreover, since this Court announced <u>Hale</u>, the district courts also have found its holding to be quite clear, applying it without difficulty in at least fifty cases, which are too numerous to cite.

We next address the state's arguments functionally questioning the word and wisdom of <u>Hale</u> on its face. From

the language in <u>Hale</u>, this Court could not have made its intent any clearer, that habitual offender sentences, as well as their mandatory minimum components, must run concurrently where they arise out of a single criminal episode, 630 So.2d at 524, 525 (emphasis added):

We find nothing in the language of the habitual offender statute which suggests that the legislature also intended that, once the sentences from multiple crimes committed during a single criminal episode have been enhanced through the habitual offender statutes, the total penalty should then be further increased by ordering that the sentences run consecutively.

* * *

[T]he trial court is not authorized, in our view, to both enhance Hales' sentence as a habitual offender and make each of the enhanced habitual offender sentences for the possession and the sale of the same identical piece of cocaine consecutive, without specific legislative authorization in the habitual offender statute.

We note that in this case, the permitted guidelines range was 9 to 22 years. The sentence imposed was life, consecutive life and a third consecutive term of life. Under these circumstances, we question why the state would use its resources, and those of this Court, to pursue this case where Bob Champagne's sentence will still be three life sentences, just run concurrently instead of consecutively.

Although it is not the situation before the Court in the present case, the state proceeds to argue the possibility, based upon the application of <u>Hale</u>, that a habitual offender sentence could be less than the defendant's permitted guidelines sentence; and that in such cases, defendants could benefit from a windfall in the form of a downward departure from the guidelines, so to speak, rendering the habitual offender statute meaningless.

But this concern by the state, should be alleviated by the very fact of Hale's announcement. Now, in every case, the trial court will know the Hale rule, and can discern and choose from among, the various options available, and fashion the most appropriate sentence for each case. As a matter of common sense, it is highly unlikely, that any Florida trial court is going to make a practice of suing the habitual offender statute to circumvent the guidelines to give a more lenient sentence.

It is significant that in every case, it is always at the instance of the state that a trial court is asked to declare a defendant to be a habitual offender and to so sentence that defendant. With full awareness of <u>Hale</u>, the state can simply calculate the various sentencing options in any given case, and act accordingly. If the state finds the

sentence will be more favorable to it under the guidelines, it just can choose not to seek a habitual offender sentence.

The answer to these perceived problems, rests solely in within the state's own power and authority. There is no reason for this Court to and fashion a new rule which necessarily will only be redundant of what already is available to the state. That would not be a fitting exercise of this Court's jurisdiction, or scarce judicial resources.

With respect to the notion that habitual offender sentencing is rendered meaningless by Hale, we must not lose sight of the most important fact here, that Bob Michael Champagne was sentenced to LIFE in prison. This is certainly a significant upward departure from the maximum of 22 years permitted under the guidelines.

In summary, the state's arguments are nothing more than a plea for a rehearing of Hale. The arguments do not present sound or compelling reasons for this Court to retreat from that unanimous holding.

The exercise of this Court's jurisdiction here is not warranted in the present case. If this Court decides to take this case and write an opinion, then we most respectfully submit, based upon the state's failure to meet its burden of proving any credible reason for overruling the clear holding

in <u>Hale</u>, that this Court should affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal reversing the sentence imposed on Bob Michael Champagne, and answer the certified question in the affirmative:

that <u>Hale</u> does preclude, under all circumstances, the imposition of consecutive sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode for habitual felony, or habitual violent felony offenders.

THE THIRD DISTRICT INCORRECTLY AFFIRMED WHERE THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE, OVER REPEATED OBJECTION AND MISTRIAL MOTION, TO PRESENT ON REBUTTAL, A WITNESS WHO HAD NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THE STATE'S WITNESS LIST, AND WHOSE TESTIMONY SUGGESTED OTHER CRIMINAL CONDUCT, MUCH TO MR. CHAMPAGNE'S GREAT PREJUDICE, DENYING HIM DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee all defendants in criminal cases, the right to a fair and impartial trial, and to due process. Article I, Sections 9 and 16, Florida Constitution; United States Constitution, Amendments V, VI and XIV.

It was unduly prejudicial to Bob Champagne for the trial court to allow the state to call Detective Iris Deegan to testify on rebuttal. By allowing that testimony, the court allowed the state to bring in the suggestion of other criminal conduct which was not charged in this case.

If defense counsel had known that Iris Deegan was going to be a witness, he would have counselled Mr. Champagne differently regarding his testimony. Counsel gave his client advice to avoid opening the door out of concern that it would lead to a problem. Had counsel known that Iris Deegan would testify about her interview with Mr. Champagne, perhaps he would have mentioned it himself, to avoid being made to look like a liar on rebuttal.

The court realized that it would be prejudicial to allow Iris Deegan to testify that for 45 minutes, she spoke with Mr. Champagne about "another matter." "That's true, it's prejudicial to the defendant, no question it's prejudicial to him." (T-180).

The jurors surely were not so stupid as to think they were discussing sports or the weather during that time.

The court said that there had been, "effectively," a Richardson hearing. See Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971). Defense counsel did not realize that it had happened. The court found that there was a discovery violation, but ruled that the state's failure to list Iris Deegan was "inadvertent, couldn't have been anticipated under the circumstances . . . " (T-183, 184).

At the outset of proceedings on the following day, the trial court stated that there was no significant procedural prejudice to the defense since the court had instructed that defense counsel would have an opportunity to talk with the witness before she testified (T-192).

Defense counsel requested a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry on both prongs of the test. Failure to make a proper inquiry on both aspects of <u>Richardson</u>, he argued, is per se reversible (T-

192). The state has an obligation to list rebuttal its witnesses, just as it does its witnesses for the case in chief.

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 319 So.2d 14, 16 (Fla. 1975) Justice Boyd, writing for the Florida Supreme Court, and citing the United States Supreme Court in <u>Wardius v. Oregon</u>, 412 U.S. 470, 93 S.Ct. 2208, 37 L.Ed.2d 82 (1973), set out Ruvel Smith's arguments that discovery must be a two-way street, and that it is unfair to require a defendant to divulge the details of his defense while at the same time submitting him to the hazards of surprise concerning refutation of the very evidence which he has disclosed. We note that the <u>Smith</u> case involved an alibi defense.

Ruvel Smith further contended that the state's failure to comply with the reciprocal provisions of the discovery rules resulted in a denial of due process. The admission over objection of surprise rebuttal testimony impaired the defendant's ability to adequately prepare his defense and was highly prejudicial to his right to a fair trial. See Ramirez v. State, 241 So.2d 744 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). Of course the requirements of the rules may be waived in the court's discretion for good cause. In Smith as in the present case, the defense sought discovery and the name of the surprise rebuttal witness was not included on the state's list.

If a trial court fails to make full inquiry into the circumstances surrounding the state's calling a witness whose name was not supplied to the defendant and where that witness testified about a material issue, the refusal by the trial court to exclude the testimony by the surprise witness is reversible error. Smith, 319 So.2d at 17.

In <u>Smith</u>, Justice Boyd also refers to <u>Watson v. State</u>, 291 So.2d 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) which recognized that discovery is reciprocal, affording both state and defense an opportunity to eliminate surprise; and that fairness is the watchword in all discovery.

Indeed the very problems set out in <u>Smith</u> also arose in this case. After the defense rested, the state wanted to bring a surprise witness, the supreme prejudice imaginable, once the defense had laid its cards out on the table. Perhaps the defendant would not have testified at all, or would have been advised differently by counsel regarding his testimony, if Iris Deegan had been on the witness list. The prejudice goes to the very heart of the defense.

By allowing Iris Deegan to testify, the trial court torpedoed the entire defense, and in mid-trial, changed the rules (T-196).

The state is expected to list, as a matter of its responsibilities in discovery, the names and addresses of all persons known to have any involvement in the case (T-197).

Defense counsel was never able to speak with John Deegan because he was subpoensed twice for deposition but failed to appear. The first time counsel spoke with him was the day on which he testified.

Defense counsel never even heard of Detective Iris

Deegan, nor did he have any reason to suspect that she was a
witness in this case. If any blame is to be assigned, it is
the because state witness John Deegan failed to appear for
his deposition - twice (T-198).

There is extreme prejudice to Bob Champagne and the entire defense. Had Iris Deegan been listed, the course of the preparation of defense would have been different (T-199).

The Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure are supposed to protect the defendant from trial by ambush. The rules of discovery and specifically the <u>Richardson</u> cases show that both sides are supposed to expose all issues and facts before the trial. The system does not work when the defendant takes the stand, reveals his entire defense and then the state can bring in new witnesses. That is not fair (T-200).

And to make things worse, defense counsel wanted to take Iris Deegan's deposition that morning if she was going to testify, and the trial court found that unnecessary: "I'll permit her to testify, what she says will be on the record in this court. You'll have a full record. You don't need to take a deposition." The court then said "Okay, you want to take her deposition, go take her deposition." (T-201, 202).

When defense counsel wanted to cite other authorities the judge said that she did not have to be present, and counsel could make his record when she left the courtroom (T-201). The court found that any problem was created by the defense. When counsel wanted to argue procedural prejudice, the court would not allow further argument (T-202).

The judge then told defense counsel to put his cases on the record and take Iris Deegan's deposition, whereupon she left the bench (T-204, 205).

Raising the implication that there were other criminal cases being discussed with Mr. Champagne that night, allowed the jury to take into the jury room, matters which should not have been considered in reaching a verdict in this case. The jury verdict should have been based solely upon whether the witnesses were correct in their identification, whether there

was a legitimate confession to the crime and whether the state had met its burden of proof.

In <u>Sharif v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 960 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991),

Judge Frank, reversed the defendant's conviction and remanded
the cause for a new trial where an undisclosed rebuttal
witness was allowed to testify. The Court was not persuaded
that the witness's testimony was no prejudicial. Had the
defendant been able to anticipate such testimony, Judge Frank
wrote, his preparation for trial might have proceeded
differently. 589 So.2d 961.

In <u>Sharif</u>, the state failed to reveal a rebuttal witness who, over defense objection, testified and contradicted n aspect of the defendant's testimony. The identity of rebuttal witnesses is not excepted from the state's discovery obligations. The trial court's inquiry into the circumstances surrounding the state's non-compliance was not adequate.

<u>Richardson</u> required a reversal of the conviction. In fact, a <u>per se</u> basis for reversal arises from failure to fulfill the <u>Richardson</u> requirement. 589 So.2d 960-61.

For the foregoing reasons, Bob Champagne's convictions must be reversed and the cause remanded for a new, and fair trial.

POINT III

THE THIRD DISTRICT INCORRECTLY AFFIRMED WHERE THE EVIDENCE OF IDENTITY WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT BOB MICHAEL CHAMPAGNE COMMITTED THE CHARGED ROBBERIES IN THAT THE ASSAILANT WAS IDENTIFIED BY THE VICTIMS SHORTLY AFTER THE ROBBERY AS BEING MUCH SHORTER AND WEIGHING MUCH LESS THAN BOB CHAMPAGNE, AND HAVING GOLD TEETH.

It is fundamental that it is an essential of due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment that no person shall be made to suffer the onus of a criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof, defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense. <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 317, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2787, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

There is no question that a robbery was committed in the present case, but the state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Bob Michael Champagne was the larger man who participated in the robbery of the Maximum Protection Insurance office on December 4, 1992, taking property at gunpoint from Ms. Zizi, Ms. Xavier and Mr. Darcius and tying them up with telephone cord.

There were two men involved. One was skinny and the other was large. The three victims all identified Bob Champagne as the larger man, both from photographs and in the

courtroom. However, shortly after the robbery, they gave descriptions which did not even come close to accurately describing Bob Champagne who stands six feet three inches tall, and weighs 280 pounds. He does not have gold teeth.

Chantal Xavier described the skinny man as being tall and light skinned. She said that she recognized him, but she did not recognize the other man whom she described as big, dark skinned, about 200 pounds and five feet six inches tall. The Saturday after the robbery, she was shown photographs and she picked out Bob Champagne's photograph. At trial, she said that she was positive that this defendant was the man who robbed her at gunpoint (T-28 to 31).

Marie Zizi described the larger man as tall, fat, large lips, gold teeth and a high top; and the other as light, taller and skinny. She also had described the larger man as being five feet six inches tall, but acknowledged that she might have been mistaken, since Bob Champagne is six feet, three inches tall. In spite of the discrepancy, she said she had no doubt that he was the man. She identified him from photographs (T-53 to 56).

Ms. Zizi's original description to the police was that the man was <u>five feet five inches tall and weighed 150 to 200 pounds</u>, and that he had <u>gold teeth</u> (T-59, 60).

Samuel Darcius also testified at trial that he recognized Bob Champagne as the man who robbed him (T-74). He had originally described the larger man as being <u>five feet seven or eight inches tall</u> (T-77).

According to a robbery detective, the victims gave different descriptions to different officers. They told Detective Cope that the larger man was six feet two inches tall and weighed 200 to 240 pounds; but they also had told Officer Darby that the man was five feet five inches tall and weighed 140 pounds (T-85).

On cross examination Detective Cope said that regarding the heavier of the two men, the first description given by the victims, a few minutes after the robbery, was that he was a black male, 18 to 21 years old, five feet five inches tall, 150 to 200 pounds, dark and heavy; but the description the victims gave him was different: six feet tall, 200 to 240 pounds (T-92, 93, 94, 98).

Clearly there was sufficient conflict in the descriptions given by the victims, to create a reasonable doubt as to whether Bob Champagne was the larger man who took part in the robbery on December 4, 1992.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Bob
Michael Champagne respectfully requests that this Court
decline to exercise its discretionary authority to review the
certified question.

However, should this Court elect to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the certified question in this case, then we respectfully ask the Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative; and to affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal insofar as it held that <u>Hale</u> requires that Bob Champagne's habitual offender sentences cannot be further enhanced by running the three life terms consecutively.

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